IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2007-TS-00404

WILLIAM JENNINGS, APPELLANT

VS.

RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS, APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bill Waller, Sr.
MSB No.:
Waller & Waller, Attorneys
Post Office Box 4
220 South President Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
(601) 354-5252
Attorney for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

	CIVIL CAUSE NO.: 2007-TS-00404
	WILLIAM JENNINGS,
	APPELLANT
	VS.
	RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS
	APPELLEE

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The verdict is contrary to the evidence presented because Plaintiff's damages including his medical diagnosis and medical expenses were not disputed or rebutted by any evidence, credible or otherwise.
 - 1. Additur should be granted to achieve a just award since the small amount of the verdict reflects that the jury was influenced by bias, prejudice or passion, and that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence.
 - 2. A new trial should be granted because the court ruled that the defendant was at fault and the amount of the verdict reflects that the jury ignored the overwhelming and undisputed evidence of damages.
- B. It was error to exclude the opinion of the Plaintiff's primary treating physician regarding his permanent disability rating of fifty percent (50%).
- C. It was error for the trial court to remove the portion of damage Instruction C-6 that would have allowed the jury to consider loss of future wages.
- D. It was error for the trial court to overruled Plaintiff's Motion for Mistrial based upon grounds that include abnormal composition of the jury panel of approximately 85% African-Americans when the Plaintiff was a Caucasian male and the Defendant was an African-American male. The jury selected included eight (8) African-Americans who revealed upon being polled that they voted for the \$5,000 verdict.
- E. Statutory and Social Change Forces Abolishment or Amendment to the Anonymous Defendant Rule and it was error to sever direct action against State Farm.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause of action arose out of an automobile accident between William Jennings and Rudolph McCelleis. When the original Complaint was filed, Jennings filed suit against the McCelleis for personal injuries and State Farm Insurance Company for bad faith, breach of fiduciary duty and conflict of interest, in Hinds County Circuit Court. (R. 4, R.E. 12). State Farm Insurance Company insured both the Plaintiff and the Defendant. The lower court severed the causes of action for trial purposes. (R. 142, R.E. 10). The lower court granted Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and the case was tried before Honorable Bobby DeLaughter on the issue of damages only. After a trial, a jury verdict was rendered assessing the Plaintiff's damages at \$5,000.00. (R. 263, 271, 272; R.E. 9, 8, 7). Plaintiff then filed a Motion for Additur or For New Trial which was denied. (R. 273, R.E. 72). It is from this order that the Plaintiff appeals. (R. 317, R.E. 6).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The \$5,000 verdict awarded to the Plaintiff is not only contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, but is so inadequate as to strike mankind at first blush as being unreasonable and outrageous as well as shocking the conscious.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-55 (Rev. 1991), grants the trial judge the authority to grant an additur. The Appellate courts in Mississippi have affirmed or granted an additur in many cases. The court erred in not granting an additur or a new trial on damages. The evidence presented supports a claim for damages well in excess of the \$5,000 award by the jury. The Court should grant a new trial for damages based on the fact that the small amount of the verdict resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

The ruling of the court in admitting Dr. Noland's testimony as an expert witness, but excluding his opinion or rating as to the percentage of disability suffered by the Plaintiff as a direct and proximate result of his injuries was extremely detrimental to the Plaintiff in presenting evidence as to the extent and amount of the Plaintiff's damages. The law does not permit a trial judge to decipher which part of the testimony of an expert witness will be submitted to the jury or excluded. As stated above, Dr. Noland's testimony was admitted but his opinion as to the permanent partial disability of the Plaintiff's body as a whole was excluded. The case law generally speaks to the weight, worth and credibility of the expert and in this case there is no evidence to dispute or contradict the disability rating made by Dr. Noland.

The court excluded future wages in Jury Instruction C-6. The court reasoned that there was no proof of present net cash value of loss of future wages and would not allow future wages to be considered. This issue relates to and connects directly with the exclusion of Dr. Noland's opinion

as to Plaintiff's disability.

Prior to examining the jury, the Plaintiff made a motion *ore tenus* for mistrial or to transfer the case to the First Judicial District in the eastern part of Hinds County. The court overruled Plaintiff's motion and more or less ruled that the Plaintiff had agreed to try the case in the Second Judicial District in order to get an earlier trial, however, that agreement did not foresee the overwhelming distortion of the panel and unconstitutional composition of the racial demographics. All jury trial in either civil or criminal cases are to have a panel that is not prejudiced or biased for any reason including race.

It was error to sever direct action against State Farm. State Farm was a named defendant in the original complaint which alleged that they had insurance coverage of various types on both vehicles and used that conflict of interest to avoid paying Plaintiff. This case and scores like it should result in the Court modifying the anonymous defendant rule.

Additur has been granted or upheld in numerous cases in the Appellate courts in this State, and this is yet another case where additur should be granted, or a new trial on damages should be granted.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff is of the opinion that oral argument would greatly aid the Court in its analysis of the issues presented in this case. The simple facts of a two vehicle, rear-end collision with neck and back injuries to the Plaintiff became very unique in the course of circumstances arising from jury selection to verdict, including the direct action against State Farm which was abated by the trial court; the racial demographics of the jury; the exclusion of an opinion on disability by the long term treating physician; rulings on the evidence offered; refusal of certain instructions as well as editing others; and the small verdict supports an argument for an additur. All of this makes this case extremely unique on several points of law including the fact that the Plaintiff raised the question of abolition or amendment of the anonymous defendant rule. Accordingly the Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court grant oral argument in this case.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 3, 2004, at about 3:00 o'clock p.m., William Jennings was operating his 1986 Chevrolet 3/4-ton pickup truck traveling in an easterly direction on Lakeland Drive in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, and stopped as required by a red signal light at the intersection with River Ridge Street, and his vehicle was standing still when Rudolph McCelleis, operating his 2003 Ford Explorer vehicle in the same direction and in the same traffic lane failed to stop running into the rear of Appellant's pickup truck and causing him serious, painful and permanent injuries.

It is undisputed and admitted that Jennings' Chevrolet was stopped, headed east at a traffic control signal light and had been standing still prior to the arrival of the Ford Explorer operated by McCelleis, who ran into the rear of the pick-up truck. (R.147, R.E. 68).

Both vehicles were covered by policies of insurance issued by State Farm Insurance Company. When State Farm refused payment, Jennings eventually filed suit against both Rudolph McCelleis and State Farm. (R. 4, R.E. 12). The case against State Farm was severed from the case against Rudolph McCelleis. (R. 142, R.E. 10). Appellant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability in the proceedings against McCelleis. (R. 147, R.E. 68). The Motion was granted and the trial proceeded on January 8, 2007 on the issue of damages only. (R. 256, R.E. 71). The Jury returned a damages verdict in the amount of \$5,000.00 on January 10, 2007. (R. 263, 271, 272; R.E. 9, 8, 7).

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Additur or For New Trial on January 11, 2007. (R. 273, R.E. 72). The lower court overruled the Motion on March 1, 2007. (R. 317, R.E. 6). Plaintiff filed his Notice of Appeal on March 12, 2007. (R. 318, R.E. 90).

V. ARGUMENT

A. The verdict is contrary to the evidence presented because Plaintiff's damages including his medical diagnosis and medical expenses were not disputed or rebutted by any evidence, credible or otherwise.

The \$5,000 verdict awarded to the Plaintiff is not only contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, but is so inadequate as to strike mankind at first blush as being unreasonable and outrageous as well as shocking the conscious.

Liability in this accident is undisputed and thus no evidence on liability was required. Defendant produced no witnesses or evidence at trial to the contrary of the evidence presented by Plaintiff regarding his medical diagnosis and medical expenses. Medical treatment expenses totaling \$11,172.76 were admitted into evidence without objection from the Defendant. The diagnosis of his injuries, the treatment modalities, and the disability were not contested, disputed or rebutted, therefore, such evidence went to the jury without any conflict or contradiction. (Tr.185-192, R.E. 207-214).

1. Additur should be granted to achieve a just award since the small amount of the verdict reflects that the jury was influenced by bias, prejudice or passion, and that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-55 (Rev. 1991), grants the trial judge the authority to grant an additur and provides: "The supreme court or any other court of record in a case in which money damages were awarded may overrule a motion for new trial or affirm on direct or cross appeal, upon condition of an additur or remittitur, if the court finds that the damages are excessive or inadequate for the reason that the jury or trier of the fact was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, or that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence." Miss.

Code Ann. § 11-1-55.

The Court may grant additur if: "(1) if the court finds that the jury was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion or (2) if the damages were contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence." *Rodgers v. Pascagoula Pub. Sch. Dist.*, 611 So.2d 942, 944 (Miss. 1992)(citing *McIntosh v. Deas*, 501 So.2d 367, 369-370 (Miss. 1987).

Without objection, medical treatment expenses in the amount of \$11,172.76 were admitted into evidence. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-9-119 (Rev. 1993) provides that "Proof that medical, hospital, and doctor bills were paid or incurred because of any illness, disease, or injury shall be *prima facie* evidence that such bills so paid or incurred were necessary and reasonable." See Boggs ex rel. Boggs v. Hawks, 772 So.2d 1082, 1085 (¶ 7) (Miss. App. 2000).

As in the case of *Boggs ex rel. Boggs v. Hawks*, 772 So.2d 1082, 1086 (Miss. App. 2000), the Defendant only tried to question the extent of Jennings' damages by attempting to create inferences by attacking the credibility of the Plaintiff and his witnesses. In *Boggs*, the court determined "that Hawks failed to rebut the reasonableness of Bogg's medical bills. Hawks relied on speculation and attempts to attack the credibility of the witnesses. However, Hawks failed to present any testimony that showed that the medical bills were neither fair, reasonable, nor necessary." *Boggs ex rel. Boggs v. Hawks*, 772 So.2d 1082, 1086 (Miss. App. 2000).

In the present case, the Defendant attempted to create credibility issues in order to rebut the damages evidence. This is evident in the Defendant's opening argument.

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, on behalf of Mr. McCelleis I submit to you that the one issue in this case is not how much. It's the issue of credibility. The credibility between this man and this man. Now, that's the issue in this case.

(Tr. 56, R.E. 181).

Defendant attempted to attack the credibility of the Plaintiff during cross examination by asking him about his-prescription drug use and attempting to depict him to be a prescription drug addict, which actions were clearly explained by the Plaintiff in his testimony. (Tr. 109, 113-116, 120-122, R.E. 183, 185-188, 190-192). Further, Defendant attempted to attack his credibility regarding his annual household income. (Tr. 111, R.E. 184). Additionally, Defendant's counsel made the statement to Plaintiff: "Also, you testified in the same deposition that you had been involved in a previous rear end type accident approximately three or four years before this one; is that correct? A. Yes, sir." (Tr. 119, R.E. 189). Plaintiff clarified on redirect examination that he did not get any back injury or any injuries out of that accident. (Tr. 122, R.E. 192).

Defendant further attempts to attack Jennings' credibility during the cross-examination of Wallace Whatley. (Tr. 150-151, R.E. 195-196).

- Q. Mr. Whatley, your brother has testified today that he makes estimates, that he makes measurements, that he carries the ladder, that he puts the ladder on the house, that he gets on the roof unless there's a steep pitch. That was his testimony. You're saying that that's not true; is that correct?
- A. He hasn't don that - not since his wreck.
- Q. He hasn't done that since the wreck? That's your testimony?
- A. That's my testimony.
- Q. And you live with him at the present time?
- A. Yeah
- Q. And you were living with him at the time of this accident?
- A. I was living there at the time of the accident, yes.
- BY MR. DALEHITE: Thank you. Nothing further.

Just as in the Boggs case, the Defendant herein failed to present any testimony that showed that the medical bills were neither unfair, unreasonable, or not necessary. During the Defendant's case in chief, only one witness was called, namely, the Defendant herein, and he presented no

testimony to the contrary to rebut the medical expenses, diagnosis of his injuries, the treatment modalities, or the disability. (Tr. 185-192, R.E.207-214). There were no rebuttal documents offered by Defendant nor any discrediting cross-examinations.

"We are aware of the rule that a jury has a wide latitude in assessing damages. However, a verdict should be in such an amount as to reasonably compensate a person who is entitled to recover for injuries and damages sustained; and, we do not hesitate to set aside those verdicts which wholly failed to do so." *Horton v. Brooks*, 325 So.2d 912, 913 (Miss. 1976). Also, the Court in *Harvey v. Wall*, 649 So.2d 184, 187 (Miss. 1995) stated: "In the past this Court has not hesitated to imposed (sic) an additur when we have found a jury's verdict did not sufficiently compensate a plaintiff for pain and suffering." *Id*.

The Appellate courts in Mississippi have affirmed or granted an additur in many cases. In Gaines v. K-Mart Corp., 860 So.2d 1214, 1220-21 (¶ 25-30) (Miss. 2003) the Court affirmed an additur where the jury found defendant 5% liable, but plaintiff was not awarded 5% of the uncontradicted damages. In Scott Prather Trucking, Inc. v. Clay, 821 So.2d 819, 822 (¶ 13) (Miss. 2002), the Court affirmed an additur where stipulated and uncontested damages clearly exceeded the jury award. In Maddox v. Muirhead, 738 So.2d 742, 744-45 (¶ 10) (Miss. 1999), the Court granted an additur where "the jury award failed to compensate Maddox for medical bills that were uncontested by either defendant." Id. In the case of Rodgers v. Pascagoula Pub. Sch. Dist., 611 So.2d 942, 945-46 (Miss. 1992) the Court granted an additur where the jury only awarded medical expenses and there was uncontested evidence that plaintiff also suffered uncompensated pain. In the case of Pham v. Welter, 542 So.2d 884, 889 (Miss. 1989) the Court granted an additur where the jury's verdict "ignored" the ample evidence concerning the plaintiff's past and future pain and

suffering and permanent partial disability. The jury's verdict was barely above the amount of undisputed medical expenses. The court erred in not granting an additur or a new trial on damages.

2. A new trial should be granted because the court ruled that the Defendant was at fault and the amount of the verdict reflects that the jury ignored the overwhelming and undisputed evidence of damages.

The question is whether or not the verdict was a reasonably adequate award and one of the criteria used by the Court is whether or not the amount of the verdict evinces bias, prejudice, or passion or was contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence.

The Court should grant a new trial for damages based on the fact that the small amount of the verdict resulted in a miscarriage of justice. Looking to the criteria for granting a new trial, when all of the testimony has been considered along with all arguments delivered, if, upon a completed view of the entire case, the trial judge is of the opinion that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or clearly against the great preponderance, of the evidence, his duty is, upon a motion for a new trial to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial. *Allstate Ins. v. McGory*, 697 So.2d 1171, 1172 (Miss. 1997).

The evidence presented supports a claim for damages well in excess of the \$5,000 award by the jury. Therefore, it was error for the Court not to grant an additur or new trial because the award by the jury was inadequate.

B. It was error to exclude the opinion of the Plaintiff's primary treating physician regarding his permanent disability rating of fifty percent (50%).

Dr. Robert Noland, a native of Mississippi, is a licensed physician who is a board certified doctor in the field of family medicine. (Tr. 158, R.E. 197). Dr. Noland testified as to Plaintiff's injuries. Dr. Noland began treating Jennings after the accident for pain in his neck and back in

September 2004. (Tr. 158, R.E. 197). This treatment was extensive and continued over a long period of time, giving the doctor an opportunity to make a positive diagnosis. Since it is customary for a radiologist to interpret an MRI screening by a written report and since this was a part of Dr. Noland's records, it specifically corroborated and supported his opinion as to permanent disability.

After the jury had been sworn in, Defendant brought its motion to strike the testimony of Dr. Robert Noland before the Court. (Tr. 29-30, R.E. 169-170). Specifically, Defendant objected to Dr. Noland's testimony regarding any conclusions that he drew from his review of the MRI based upon the position that Dr. Noland was unqualified in the field of x-rays or MRI interpretation. (Tr. 30, R.E. 170). Defendant also objected to Dr. Noland's testimony concerning his opinion that the Plaintiff was 50 percent (50%) permanently disabled as a result of a bulging disc in his neck. (Tr. 31, R.E.171). It was Defendant's position that Dr. Noland assigning a percentage of disability was outside his expertise or knowledge on the subject matter. (Tr. 32-33, R.E.172-173).

In ruling on Defendant's motion, the court overruled it without prejudice to making timely objection during the course of the trial because there was not enough information before it at that time to make that ruling. (Tr. 45, R.E. 179). The motion was re-urged prior to Dr. Noland being called as a witness by deposition. The court ruled that based upon M.R.E. 703 the Defendant's objections were overruled on the grounds that they're based on the MRI report of Dr. Yong Kim, a radiologist. (Tr. 159, R.E. 198). The court further found that Dr. Noland's findings and/or opinions concerning the etiology of a patient's pain and the method employed were entirely within the field of expertise of Dr. Noland and were admissible under M.R.E. 702. (Tr. 161, R.E. 200).

However, the court found that Dr. Noland's testimony as to the extent of Plaintiff's permanent disability was speculative in nature which rendered it inadmissible. (Tr. 161, R.E. 200).

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