IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL CAUSE NO:2007-TS-00404

WILLIAM JENNINGS

APPELLANT

VS.

RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

William M. Dalehite, Jr., MSB
J. Seth McCoy, MSB
STEEN DALEHITE & PACE, LLP
Post Office Box 900
Jackson, MS 39205-0900
Tel: 601/969-7054

Fax: 601/353-3782

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL CAUSE NO:2007-TS-00404

WILLIAM JENNINGS

APPELLANT

VS.

RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE RUDOLPH L. MCCELLEIS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant's appeal is not timely. However, the Circuit Court's denial of Appellant Jennings Motion for Additur or For New Trial was proper. A properly empaneled jury entered a reasonable verdict for the Plaintiff/Appellant based on evidence presented. No evidence of bias on the part of the jury was shown. The Circuit Court properly decided all evidentiary issues in the case.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This appeal arises from the Hinds County Circuit Court's denial of Plaintiff/Appellant Jenning's Motion for Additur or for New Trial. In determining whether a trial court erred in denying a Motion for New Trial, the Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will only reverse when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will the Court disturb it on appeal. *Jenkins v. State*, 947 So.2d 270, 278 (Miss.2006).

An appellate court will not reverse a trial court's denial of a motion for additur unless it is clear that the trial court abused it's discretion. $Boggs\ v.\ Hawks, 772\ So2d\ 1082, 1084$ (¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

B. The Appeal filed by Plaintiff/Appellant Should be Dismissed as Untimely

The Complaint in this matter was filed on June 16, 2005, and named Appellee Rudolph McCelleis and State Farm as Defendants. (R.4-59/X.1-56) The Complaint alleged a cause of action based on automobile negligence as to Appellee Rudolph McCellies. The

Complaint also alleged a cause of action based on bad faith and breach of fiduciary duty against State Farm.

Both Appellee McCelleis and co-Defendant State Farm asserted that the cases should be severed for trial purposes (R.60-82 and 83-90/X. 57-89 and 80-87). Judge DeLaughter ordered that the cases would proceed under the same case number but would be severed for trial purposes. (R.142-143/X. 88-89).

The trial of the automobile negligence portion of the claim proceeded and a Final Judgment was entered in the Plaintiff/Appellant's favor against Defendant/Appellee McCelleis *only*. (R.272/X.100). Appellant Jennings then filed a Motion for Additur or For New Trial, which was denied by Judge DeLaughter.

Appellant's appeal in the present matter is not ripe. Only final judgments are appealable. A final, appealable, judgment is one that adjudicates the merits of the controversy which settles *all issues as to all parties* and requires no further action by the lower court. *Walters v. Walters*, 956 So.2d 1050 (Miss.App.2007). In order to bring an appeal as a matter of right there must be a full and final judgment on all aspects of a case. The automobile negligence and bad faith causes of action in this case were never fully and totally severed from one another. Judge DeLaughter's ruling only severed the causes of action for trial purposes. The Plaintiff/Appellant's bad faith case against State Farm is still pending under the same case number. (R.177-178/X.93-94)

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) states that:

When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, whether as a claim. . . . or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more of the but fewer than all of the claims only upon an expressed determination that there is no reason for delay and upon an expressed direction for entry of the judgment. In the absence of such determination and

direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated which adjudicates fewer than all of the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all of the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claim or parties . . .

The comments explain this rule further:

Rule 54(b) is designed to facilitate the entry of judgments upon one or more but fewer than all the claims.... The basic purpose is to avoid possible injustice of delay in entering judgment on a distinctly separate claim... until the final adjudication of the entire matter by making an immediate appeal available.

This rule gives the court discretion to enter a final judgment and it provides much needed certainty in determining when a final and appealable judgment has been entered. If the court chooses to enter such a final order, it must do so in a definite unmistakable manner. Absent a certification under Rule 54(b), any order in a multiple party or multiple claim action, even if it appears to adjudicate a separable portion of the controversy, is interlocutory.

In the present case, the order entered by Judge DeLaughter contained neither an express request for the entry of the judgment nor an express statement that there is no reason for delay. (R.72/X.100). Without the language as required under *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure* 54(b), the Judgment entered by the Circuit Court was not a final and appealable judgment as it did not dispense of the Appellant/Plaintiff's breach of fiduciary duty claims against State Farm.

Accordingly Appellee McCellies would respectfully request that this Honorable Court dismiss the Appellant's appeal until such time as a Final Judgment has been entered as to all claims and parties in this case.

C. No Additur Or New Trial Was Warranted Because the Jury's Verdict Was Not Outrageous.

The burden of proving injuries and other damages is on the party requesting the additur. *Maddox v. Muirhead*, 738 So.2d 742, 743 (¶5). Moreover, evidence will be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, including any favorable inference that

may be reasonably drawn from such evidence. *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court has always been reluctant to set aside jury verdicts, noting that a verdict should not be adjusted "unless so unreasonable in amount to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous." *Rodgers v. Pascagoula Pub. Sch. Dist.*, 611 So.2d 942, 945 (Miss.1992).

A new trial will not be ordered unless the appellate court is convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Townsend v. Skelton*, 911 So.2d 639 (Miss.App.2005). The present case clearly does not present such as situation.

The Plaintiff/Appellant argues that the \$5,000.00 verdict rendered by the properly empaneled jury should be disturbed. Awards fixed by a jury are not merely advisory and will not under the general rule be set aside unless so unreasonable in amount as to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous. *City of Jackson v. Ainsworth*, 462 So.2d 325, 328 (Miss.1984). Where testimony is contradicted the Court will defer to the jury which determines, the weight and worth of testimony and the credibility of the witnesses at trial. *Odom v. Roberts*, 606 So.2d 114 (Miss.1992).

The Plaintiff/Appellant Jennings in his motion for Additur or for New Trial, alleged that the evidence presented showed that Jennings incurred medical expenses totaling \$11,000 and lost wages of \$29,000. According to Plaintiff/Appellant's motion and brief this would indicate that the jury's damage award should be at least \$40,000.

The Plaintiff/Appellant contends that medical treatment expenses totaling \$11,000 were admitted into evidence without conflict or contradiction. Nothing could be further from

the truth. The amount of actual reasonable medical expenses that were causally related to this automobile accident was disputed by the Defendant/Appellee.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that a party may rebut the necessity and reasonableness of medical bills and the ultimate question is then for the finder of fact to determine whether the bills incurred were necessary and reasonable. *Jackson v. Brumfield*, 458 So.2d 736 (Miss.1984).

During trial, counsel for Defendant/Appellee McCelleis cross-examined the Plaintiff on several issues that would call into question the reasonableness and necessity of the alleged medical expenses.

Appellant/Plaintiff Jennings was cross-examined on the fact that immediately after the accident occurred, he spoke with Officer H. L. Bullock and reported that he was not hurt. Officer H.L. Bullock, likewise testified that the Plaintiff did not report any pain or injuries at the scene. (T.182/X. 177).

Plaintiff/Appellant was also questioned on the fact that he was one mile from River Oaks Hospital when the accident occurred and, rather than going to the hospital, he drove home, and only after his brother arrived at home did he get the idea to go to the hospital. (T.105/X. 157).

Furthermore, Plaintiff/Appellant was cross-examined on the fact that he was treated at River Oaks, had x-rays taken, which were negative, and was released without admission. (T.105-106/X. 157-158). Also, Appellant Jennings was cross-examined on the fact that, after his initial treatment and x-rays, he went on his on volition to approximately five other doctors primarily to obtain pain medication. (T.109-119/X.159-169)

The Plaintiff/Appellant Jennings was further cross-examined on the fact that he was

visiting multiple pain doctors, who, unbeknownst to the doctors, were prescribing multiple prescriptions of the same potent narcotic pain medications to the Plaintiff. (T.109-119/X.159-169).

Based on this evidence, the jury was clearly entitled to differentiate between what medical expenses they believed were *necessary and reasonable* as a result of the accident and those medical expenses that were not. The jury was entitled to factor the expenses that they felt were unnecessarily incurred as a result of the Appellant's alleged neck strain and deduct those expenses from the total medical expenses the Plaintiff/Appellant alleged to have suffered.

The Plaintiff/Appellant further alleges that the plaintiff lost \$1,000 per month in net income since his alleged injuries for a period of 29 months, for a total of \$29,000. Plaintiff/Appellant also asserted that this amount was not disputed or rebutted. However, the only evidence of Plaintiff's lost wages that was introduced by the Plaintiff/Appellant was his own testimony. No documentation, i.e. income tax records were ever produced or admitted to back up the Plaintiff/Appellant's testimony even though that documentation was requested by Defendant/Appellee during discovery and the Plaintiff's deposition. (T.41/X.155).

A jury is not required to believe any witness. *General Motors Corporation v. Pegues*, 738 So.2d 746, 753 (Miss.App.2002). Damages such as loss of income must be proved by reasonable certainty. *Id* at 755. The Plaintiff testified that the \$1,000 figure could be more or could be less depending on how business was going. (T.111/X. 161).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has specifically stated that a jury is not "bound to accept without question" a Plaintiff's testimony concerning the amount of his damages even

where such testimonies do not directly contradict it. *Farmer v. Smith*, 207 So. 2d 352, 353 (Miss. 1968).

It is clear that a jury is under no obligation to simply accept as true, the unsupported testimony of an interested party. As the Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly explained:

....the demeanor or bearing, or the tone of voice or the attitude and appearance of the witness, all are primarily for inspection and review by the jury. The jury not only has the right to determine the truth or falsity of the witnesses, it also has the right to evaluate and determine what portions of the testimony of any witness it will accept or reject; therefore, in as much it is clear to this Court that the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible testimony this Court will not set aside the verdict of the jury. *Hinson v. Roberts*, 679 So. 2d 1041, 1045 (Miss.1996) *quoting Travelers Indemnity Co., v. Rawlson*, 222 So. 2d, 131, 134 (Miss. 1969).

The Plaintiff/Appellant's alleged damages for loss of income were not proven with the requisite reasonable certainty. Appellant could easily have submitted tax returns or other financial records for his roofing business to establish his amount of lost income, but instead he chose to rely only upon his own testimony. The jury was entitled to take the lack of proof and certainty of lost income into account when calculating the damages in this case.

Appellant argued in his Motion for Additur or for new trial, the denial of which he now appeals, that the jury's verdict of \$5,000 was contrary to the evidence and an additur should be ordered. A Court has no authority to vacate a damage award merely because it thinks the jury erred or because, if the Court had been the finder of fact, it would have awarded a greater or lesser sum. *Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley*, 608 So.2d 1149, 1160, 1161 (Miss. 1992).

In the present case, the \$5,000 amount of damages awarded to the Plaintiff/Appellant by the properly empaneled jury is neither outrageous or unreasonable. The damages awarded have a direct correlation to the amount of medical expenses that the jury believed were necessarily incurred by the Plaintiff/Appellant as a result of the accident in question.

Very likely, the jury concluded that, among the bills admitted by the Plaintiff/Appellant, the bills for the emergency room visit at River Oaks and the ensuing x-rays on the date of the accident; Plaintiff's visit to Dr. Ellingson; Plaintiff's physical therapy at Rankin Medical Center; and Plaintiff's drug prescriptions prescribed on the date of the accident which were filled at Super D Drugs, which total approximately \$5,000, were the bills that were causally related to the accident.

In this case the jury was charged with evaluating the Plaintiff/Appellant's credibility and determining what actual losses he suffered as a result of the accident. Apparently the jury concluded that he was neither credible nor convincing in his testimony regarding losses he suffered. For these reasons it cannot be said that the jury's verdict as to the Plaintiff's claim was unreasonable or outrageous.

In his Motion for Additur or for New Trial and Appeal Brief, Plaintiff/Appellant highlighted the fact that the only witness that was called by the defense was the Defendant/Appellee himself. This is logical in light of the admission of liability by Defendant/Appellee. Plaintiff/Appellant referenced that the Defendant/Appellee testified to the damages to his vehicle as a result of the collision. The Plaintiff/Appellant fails to mention that the Defendant/Appellee additionally testified that after the accident he asked the Plaintiff if he was injured, to which the Plaintiff/Appellant Jennings responded in the negative (T.188/X. 178). The Defendant/Appellee also testified as to his recollection of the accident as well as his estimated speed. (T.187/X.177).

Officer H. L. Bullock was subpoenaed for trial by both the Plaintiff and Defendant.

Officer Bullock's testimony also indicated that the Plaintiff/Appellant reported that he was

not injured at the time of the accident and no ambulance was called. (T.182/X. 177).

Clearly sufficient rebuttal to the Plaintiff/Appellant's alleged injuries, the reasonableness or lack thereof of Appellant's subsequently incurred medical expenses and Appellant's lost wages was presented to the jury. Thus the jury's verdict was clearly not outrageous and thus should not be overturned.

D. The Trial Court Properly Excluded the Opinion of Dr. Robert Noland Regarding Plaintiff/Appellant's Alleged Percentage of Disability.

Plaintiff/Appellant argues that the Circuit Court improperly excluded the testimony of Dr. Robert Noland as it pertains to the Plaintiff/Appellant's alleged percentage of permanent disability. A court's ruling on issues of evidence during trial is proper unless it was an abuse of discretion. *Farris v. State*, 906 So.2d 113 (Miss.App.2004). In the present case, the Circuit Court's ruling regarding Dr. Noland's testimony was not only *not* an abuse of discretion, it was proper.

During the trial of this matter, Plaintiff/Appellant offered as evidence, the video taped deposition of Dr. Robert Noland. (T.163/X.176). During his deposition Dr. Noland testified that he was board certified in family medicine only and that he was not certified in radiology, orthopedics, neurology or any other fields. (R.243/X.99). Noland's deposition testimony also revealed that he did not conduct or order any tests or studies on the Plaintiff/Appellant Jennings. (R.242/X.98). Dr. Noland treated the Plaintiff/Appellant strictly for pain. (R.233/X.96). The medical records which were introduced into evidence at trial indicated that Dr. Noland did nothing more than refill the Plaintiff/Appellant's potent narcotic pain medications.

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